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Our Mission >
To provide excellence in 

aeromedical and primary 

health care across Australia.

Throughout its 82 year history 
the RFDS has provided regular 
medical clinics as well as 
emergency services to rural 
and remote communities. Over 
more recent years the RFDS 
has expanded its core General 
Practice and nursing services to 
include women’s health, mental 
health and other allied health 
services. Across RFDS operational 
sections there has been further 
expansion into preventative, 
health promotion & community 
development activities >
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New mental health 
service commenced 
in Alice Springs

8 of the 11
planned aircraft replaced 
under the Commonwealth 
assisted ‘Traditional’ 
aircraft replacement plan

Planning for the next 
generation of our web 
strategy ‘RFDS online’  
commenced

National Strategy and 
Business planning 
process underway

Number of kilometres 
increased by 

1.67 
million

Development of a  
national staff performance 
management framework

RWGPS evaluation 
commenced

230,243
visitors to  
our website

New national  
IT infrastructure 
commisioned in  
September 2009

Number of patient  
transports up by

4%

Patients contacts  
increased by

10,000

Launch of new  
print campaign  
‘Help our services fly’

RFDS web ‘In Focus’ 
box highlights a key 
health issue each month
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Highlights & Year in Review >

2009-2010> has seen the 
the health needs of people living, 
remote Australia – the RFDS takes

Service continue to grow to meet 
working and travelling in regional & 
the finest care to the furthest corners.
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We acknowledge and thank the Commonwealth Government and 
State and Territory Governments, our donors, corporate partners, 
sponsors, friends and volunteers for their continued support enabling 
us to deliver a range of high quality health services across Australia.

In particular, the Royal Flying Doctor Service acknowledge the support 
from the Commonwealth Government Department of Health and 
Ageing for its Traditional Services and Rural Women’s General Practice 
Service as well as mental health and general health services in specific 
regional areas.   > The RFDS National Office

Primary Healthcare Facilities

Aeromedical Bases

Administration Offices

> RFDS Flight Nurses,  
 Queensland.
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For the year ended 30th June 2010 
Service Area Square KM’s - 7,150,000 Daily Average Year

Patient Contacts 758 276,489 (1)

Patient Transports 106 38,852 (2)

Health Care Clinics 38 13,791

Distance Flown (kms) 70,116 25,592,455

Number of Landings 203 74,214

Telehealth 251 91,623

Number of Aircraft 60 (3)

RFDS Bases 21 (4)

RFDS Health Facilities 5 (5)

RFDS Other Facilities 10 (6)

Staff 977 (7)

(1) Includes patients at clinics, patients transported and telehealth

(2) Includes primary evacuations, interhospital transfers, patients transported from a clinic and repatriations

(3) Includes 6 aircraft which will be decommissioned as their replacements enter service in 2010-11

(4) RFDS Base is a health facility that houses an aircraft and provides health services

(5) RFDS Health Facility is a health facility that does not have an aircraft but provides health services

(6) RFDS Other Facilities include marketing, fundraising and public relations as well as the National Office

(7) Includes 296 part-time and casual staff

Facts at a glance >

Service area covered...

7,150,000km2



>  RFDS King Air B200  
 take off, Outback NSW.
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It has been a year of 
steady progress for the 
Royal Flying Doctor 
Service in which our 
newly approved brand 
message ‘The Furthest 
Corner. The Finest 
Care’ says it all.

Service delivery 24/7 remains of a high 
standard and is seen as such by our 
patients, the community at large and 
Commonwealth, State and Territory 
governments. No other organisation 
provides the same level of integrated 
health care services Australia wide, so 
to you all, our nurses, doctors, allied 
health staff, aircrew, support staffs and 
volunteers a very big thank you.

On the contracting side we have won 
some and lost one; a wake up call for 
us to better anticipate our clients needs 
and to utilise the very best talents of the 
whole of the RFDS to win every contract.

Despite the tough economic times 
we have seen a pleasing increase in 
donations received at National Office and 
I personally thank all for their generosity.

But we cannot afford to be complacent. 
We have a huge opportunity to capitalise 
on the Commonwealth Government’s 
recently announced national health 
care reform agenda, particularly in the 
preventative aspects of primary health 
care service delivery. For example, 
much more needs to be done in 
Indigenous communities to sustainably 
educate children and young families 
on basic health measures and good 
dietary practices. I would like to see 
innovative suggestions coming up from 
the sharp end on how best we can 
do this. Some of our existing health 
promotion programs are beginning to 
do this but there is a long way to go to 
achieve equity of service delivery with 
metropolitan areas.

And now to innovation. Ideas should 
flow from all parts of our organisation 
and managers must encourage their 
staff accordingly. Whether it be in 
improving fleet and career management, 
procurement reform, skills training, 
recruiting/retention measures, or 
performance measuring – let’s hear 
about it.

Well what of the future?

The RFDS National Board is developing 
and implementing its strategic plan, 
including governance and structural 
arrangements to improve our federated 
system of management. This will be 
an important first step towards greater 
national efficiency and competitive, 
relevant service delivery. We must stay 
closely attuned to the future needs of 
our customers including governments, 
patients and remote communities and to 
be particularly alert to the opportunities 
for partnerships.

Finally I want to see us sharing where 
practicable, information, ideas, skills 
and people across the whole of our 
organisation whilst maintaining our 
caring local service delivery philosophy.

To all of you in the RFDS of Australia 
keep up the good work, as we move 
confidently into an exciting future and 
on behalf of every member of the team 
can I publicly thank our national CEO, 
Nigel Milan, for his first class service to 
our cause and wish him every happiness 
and success for the future.

To all of you who receive our services 
across Australia be assured that RFDS 
strives to provide the best possible 
health care and to reach you wherever 
you are living, working or travelling.

Major General Michael Jeffery 

AC, AO (MIl), CVO, MC (RETD)

Chairman – RFDS Australian Council

The RFDS National Board is 
developing and implementing 
its strategic plan, including 
governance and structural 
arrangements to improve 
our federated system of 
management. This will be an 
important first step towards 
greater national efficiency  
and competitive, relevant  
service delivery > Major General Michael Jeffery 

Chairman’s Report >
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National Board  
of Directors  
(as at 30th June 2010) 
– from left to right >

Mr Neville Bassett

Director – RFDS Western Operations

Resides in Maida Vale, Western Australia

Appointed 30 June 2006

Mr Malcolm White

Director – RFDS Tasmanian Section

Resides in launceston, Tasmania

Appointed 14 November 2008

Major General Michael Jeffery  

AC, AO (MIl), CVO, MC (RETD)

Chairman –  RFDS, Australian Council 

(Former Governor-General)

Resides in Australian Capital Territory

Appointed 14 November 2008

Mr David Hills

Director – RFDS Central Operations

Resides Mount Pleasant, South Australia

Appointed 24 November 2006

Mr Mark Gray 

Director – RFDS Queensland Section

Resides in McDowell, Queensland

Appointed 13 November 2009

Ms Jane Harvey

Director – RFDS Victorian Section

Resides in Southbank, Victoria

Appointed 14 November 2008

Ms Joan Treweeke

Director – RFDS South Eastern Section

Resides in lightning Ridge,

New South Wales

Appointed 14 November 2008

Australian Council/National Board

The National Board of Directors is 
committed to responsible corporate 
governance.  In accordance with the 
Australian Stock Exchange Corporate 
Governance Council’s Principles of 
Good Corporate Governance and Best 
Practice Recommendations, the Board 
has established a sound framework 
of corporate governance practices 
that it considers appropriate for the 
Australian Council of the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service.  The Board recognises 
that it is accountable to members and 
stakeholders for the performance of 
the organisation and, to that end, is 
responsible for implementing a system 
of corporate governance that operates 
in the best interests of members while 
also addressing the interests of other key 
stakeholders. The Board also recognises 
that corporate governance is not a 
static matter and regularly reviews the 
organisation’s policies and practices to 
ensure that they remain current and 
in accordance with best practice.

  

Board role and responsibility

The Board guides and monitors the 
performance and management of the 
RFDS on behalf of the members, by 
whom it is elected and to whom it is 
accountable. The Board Charter clearly 
defines the matters that are reserved for 
the Board, and those that the Board 
has delegated to management.  

The principal responsibilities of the 
Board include:

>  contributing to the development   
  and implementation of organisation  
  strategy;

>  monitoring the corporate   
  and financial performance of 
  the organisation;

>  approving the RFDS Financial   
  Statements including the annual   
  audit report;

>  appointing Board members and the  
  National Chief Executive Officer (CEO);

>  delegating clear responsibility and 
   authority to the committees of 
  the Board, the National CEO 
  and management;

>  monitoring and reviewing the   
  performance of those who hold   
  delegated powers;

>  monitoring and reviewing processes  
  and systems of risk management  
  and internal compliance and control;

>  overseeing the RFDS corporate   
  governance framework;

>  overseeing the RFDS processes for  
  disclosure and communications; and

>  reviewing and authorising 
  major projects

The National Board has delegated 
responsibility to the National CEO 
for the day-to-day management 
and administration of the Australian 
Council of the RFDS.  The National 
CEO manages the Australian Council 
of the RFDS in accordance with the 
organisation strategy, objectives and 
delegations approved by the Board.

Composition of the Board

The RFDS seeks to have a Board 
comprising Directors with relevant 
knowledge, experience and expertise 
to deal with the current and emerging 
issues of the business, to review 
and challenge the performance 
of management, and to exercise 
independent judgment. The National 
Board currently comprises eight 
Directors including one 
independent Director.

Independence of Directors

Directors have an overriding 
responsibility to perform their duties 
in the best interests of the Company.  
Directors are required to disclose, on 
an ongoing basis, any interest that 
could potentially conflict with those 
of the Company. In accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, and under 
the Board Charter, any Director with a 
material personal interest in a matter 
being considered by the Board must 
declare the possible conflict of interest.  
They must not be present when the 
matter is being considered and may 
not vote on the matter.

Operation of the Board

The Board and its committees meet 
regularly to review strategies and 
operational performance.  The Chairman 
and National Chief Executive Officer 
communicate regularly to discuss issues 
relating to the business and to set Board 
agendas. In addition, Directors receive 
regular updates from management on 
key issues between Board meetings. 

Australian Council / 
National Board >

Our National Board >

The Rev. John Flynn Fellowship was 
created in 1990 for the purpose of 
recognising extraordinary achievement 
and merit of the highest degree in the 
service of the RFDS.  

This year the Award was made to 
Mr. Barry Lodge OAM who has had over 
20 years voluntary service to the RFDS.

Barry joined the Board of The Royal 
Flying Doctor Service Central Operations 
in October 1974 serving terms as both 
Section and National President.



CEO’s Report >

A major initiative was 
launched during this year 
– the commencement of a 
comprehensive evaluation of 
our Rural Women’s General 
Practice Service informing 
the continuation of this much 
valued service over the next 
four years > Nigel Milan
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last year I reported 
on an increase in 
personnel to cover 
the major discipline 
portfolios within 
the RFDS.  
2009/2010 has been the year where 
this investment has borne fruit.

But first the current hung parliament 
and resulting emphasis on rural, remote 
and regional issues which affords a 
tremendous opportunity for the RFDS 
to promote the interests of our patients 
and underscores the wisdom in ensuring 
we have the resources available to 
present ourselves as a modern and 
effective health delivery organisation.

As the Chairman refers in his report 
the National Office has been heavily 
involved with the creation of a new 
National Strategy and Business Plan 
thus ensuring that we lock in all the 
health reforms that have taken place 
over the last few years. This strategy 
will set the RFDS up to continue its 
role as a major and trusted provider of 
health service provision and satisfies our 
responsibility to the Commonwealth to 
ensure tax payer funds are well spent.  
Moreover the resulting Business Plan 
falling from this strategy will form the 
basis for the next four year traditional 
services funding negotiations.

Our excellent relationship with the 
Commonwealth Government was 
underlined this year by Minister 
Warren Snowdon, his advisers and 
Commonwealth officials ensuring that 
an unforseen roadblock to the effective 
delivery of S8 classed drugs to our 
medical chest program was overcome 
with the Royal Flying Doctor Bill being 
approved by Parliament. I would like to 
take this opportunity to thank Minister 
Snowdon and all those involved in this 
terrific outcome for our patients.

Also in health the RFDS has submitted 
position papers on the National Health 
and Hospitals Reform Commission 
report and also the Commonwealth 
Government consultation process 
on Primary Health Care. The key aim 
during 2009-10 has been to ensure that 
RFDS is well placed to contribute to the 
implementation of health reform in the 
rural and remote context.

A major initiative was launched during 
this year – the commencement of a 
comprehensive evaluation of our Rural 
Women’s General Practice Service 
informing the continuation of this much 
valued service over the next four years.

Primary Health Care remains a 
cornerstone of our health service 
delivery with the aim of tackling health 
issues ‘up-stream’ thereby reducing 
the burden of chronic disease and the 
need for tertiary services.

In our newly created portfolio of 
Marketing the emphasis on Primary 
Health Care continued with the creation 
of our new brand message ‘The Furthest 
Corner. The Finest Care’.

last year saw the consolidation and 
relaunch of the RFDS website and an 
evolution of our newsletters, stationery, 
staff uniforms and other materials where 
our brand image is depicted. I would 
also like to echo our National Marketing 
Director’s thanks to The Australian 
newspaper for the tremendous 
support they continue to show to our 
organisation and indeed to all those 
other media organisations that have 
given us assistance.

In aviation our Commonwealth assisted 
traditional services aircraft replacement 
plan is well underway with eight of the 
eleven planned aircraft arrivals within 
the current contract being received.  
Our National Aviation Program Manager 
is now working with our Operational 
Sections to ensure that our future 
aviation needs are well met.

In another newly created portfolio 
Human Resources (HR) tremendous 
advances have been made. Our 
first National HR Policy Manual was 
launched in July 2009 and based 
on national best practice it ensures 
there is a shared language across 
the entire organisation. The HR 
team is also implementing a national 
integrated human resource and payroll 
software solution which will eventually 
empower employees with self service 
access to many functions traditionally 
administrated via HR and payroll staff.

In information management a national 
WAN was commissioned in September 
2009 and for the first time all RFDS 
Operational Sections were linked to 
a central storage site. This new site 
supports the aforementioned national 
HR software, a national donor database, 
finance system, email and file storage 
for the national office staff.

As this will be my final report to you I 
would like to end by thanking all those 
that have supported me as CEO of the 
National Office, particularly I would to 
make mention of the National Chairman, 
Major General Michael Jeffery and 
the National Board, the National CEO 
Committee and most importantly all 
of the National Office staff.  Those 
not mentioned in the reports are our 
hard working support staff led by my 
Executive Assistant, Kerrie Smith, 
supported by Christine Hardwicke 
and Tracy Kinchington-O’Hearn who 
have worked tirelessly and diligently 
to support myself and my team. It has 
been both a pleasure and an honour 
to serve.

Thank you.

Nigel Milan 

Chief Executive Officer – 
RFDS National Office



National Office staff express 
their gratitude to the National 
Board under the leadership of 
Major General Michael Jeffery, 
and staff of the RFDS Operating 
and Support sections in making 
2009-2010 a successful year >
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Health >

The key role of National 
Office in relation to 
RFDS health services is 
to support their delivery 
through effective 
contract management, 
the development of 
national health policy 
and support systems 
and the coordination of 
senior health personnel 
across the RFDS 
operating sections.
The RFDS National Health Advisory 
Committee has met on four occasions 
throughout the year. At our Canberra 
meeting in 2009-2010 we took 
the opportunity to meet with key 
government representatives to discuss 
the implications of health reform for 
RFDS.  Throughout the year numerous 
reports have been released, including 
the Health and Hospital Reform 
Commission Report and major papers 
covering Primary Health Care and 
Health Promotion/Prevention. RFDS 
has submitted its own response to 
these initiatives and at the meeting 
recommendations from these papers 
were looked at and how they would 
work in the challenging regional and 
remote context. 

A key driver of the government’s health 
reform process is to place Primary 
Health Care at the forefront of health 
service delivery. This is endorsed and 
echoed in the RFDS with our emphasis 
being on expanding services at the 
first point of contact – General Practice 
Clinics, child and maternal services, 
mental health, women’s health, dental 
health and other allied health services.  
The RFDS is increasing its emphasis 
on health promotion and prevention of 
illness and this is reflected in programs 
such as the RFDS On the Road Program 
(Western Operations) and Field Day 
Program (Queensland Section).

Other new RFDS primary health care 
services launched in 2009-2010 include 
a Commonwealth funded mental health 
service operating in the region south and 
east of Alice Springs.

The RFDS website has begun to extend 
its role in supporting RFDS health 
service delivery with regular features on 
key health topics providing information 
on what RFDS does to tackle the health 
issue, recommending suitable resources 
for patients and their carers and 
promoting national health weeks/days 
and their messages. This initiative helps 
to build health literacy in the community 
and build skills to manage one’s own 
health. This project has been conducted 
in conjunction with the relevant peak 
body, e.g. Heart Foundation, Cancer 
Australia, Asthma Australia and Arthritis 
Australia. The health areas of the RFDS 
website will be further expanded in 
2010-2011. 

Our Rural Women’s General Practice 
Service (RWGPS) program has been 
successfully operating for 11 years 
and as part of the current funding 
agreement with the Commonwealth a 
comprehensive evaluation has been 
commenced with surveys distributed to 
RFDS female GPs, host practices and 
stakeholders and patients of the service.  
Results of the evaluation will inform and 
shape the next funding agreement for 
the RWGPS until 2015.

In the early part of 2010 National 
Office health staff contributed to an 
organisation wide strategic planning 
consultancy which will result in a clear 
health direction for the service. 

Other health related activity in 2009/2010 
included:
> Continuing negotiation with General 

Practice Education and Training 
(GPET) for trainee GP registrars to be 
placed with RFDS.

> Holding of a workshop with key 
peak bodies representing national 
health priorities to discuss ongoing 
collaborative work.

> Collaboration with the Heart 
Foundation to research rural and 
remote roll-out of Early Warning Signs 
campaign.

> Presentation to National Board on 
health services and future direction.

> Coordination of health component of 
consolidated RFDS web site.

> Meeting with other organisations 
including Prostate Cancer Foundation 
of Australia, Asthma Australia and 
Cancer Council, Royal Australian 
College of General Practitioners M5 
Men’s Health project.

> Participation in Broken Hill Mental 
Health Steering Committee meetings 
held quarterly.

A key driver of the government’s health  
reform process is to place Primary Health Care  
at the forefront of health service delivery.  
This is endorsed and echoed in the RFDS. 
> Robert Williams, National Health Program Manager



Support the rFDS
Make a donation at
www.flyingdoctor.org.au  
or call 1300 669 569 

As well as providing world leading emergency medical services to the 
outback, the Flying Doctor helps save lives by providing everyday health 
services such as GP clinics, child and maternal health care, mental health 
and dental care. 

A not-for-profit organisation, we need your support to continue to help 
those who live, work and travel throughout rural and remote Australia.

help our mental health programs fly.
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>  RFDS staff member in 
discussion with a patient 
in Central Australia.

Marketing >
 
The National Office 
is the custodian of 
the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service Brand.
The key responsibility of the Director of 
Marketing at National Office is to work 
with internal and external customers to 
optimise the image of the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service brand and to ensure that 
the Service remains inspiring, relevant 
and trusted by all stakeholders.

2009/2010 has been a year of 
implementation and roll out of our new 
branding and look and feel across our 
new corporate website, newsletters, 
stationery, staff uniforms, merchandise 
and aircraft livery.  Every care has 
been taken to run out supplies to 
keep costs at a minimum  As part of 
the development of our new look and 
feel and our new brand message,  
we reviewed our current and future 
health delivery strategy and have 
taken the opportunity to up weight the 
importance of primary health care in all 
our communication.  Our new brand 
message “The Furthest Corner. The 
Finest Care is a simple and concise way 
to help position the RFDS as not only 
a world class provider of aeromedical 
services but a provider of primary 
health care services to remote and 
regional Australia.  Below are some 
highlights from the year on how we have 
worked with various organisations to 
communicate our new message and 
increase our visibility.  

We are very grateful for the generous 
support of our partners without whom 
this work would not be possible.   

In late 2009 we received an unexpected 
invitation to become the charity of 
the month (February) for network 
TVSN.  This provided the opportunity 
to develop a new Community Service 
Announcement (CSA) free of charge.  
The 30 sec television campaign 
uses images from our past television 
programs and shows the breadth 
of health and medical services that 
we deliver to the furthest corners of 
Australia.   The CSA has also been 
sent to Metro and Regional Television 
networks across the country.

In March, work commenced on 
developing a new suite of print 
advertising.  The campaign objective 
is to educate the general public that 
the RFDS delivers in addition to world 
leading emergency medical services in 
the outback, a broad range of primary 
health care programs such as; child and 
maternal health clinics, community nurse 
clinics, mental health programs, GP 
clinics and a Rural Women’s  
GP Service. 

Thanks to the generous support of The 
Australian and local newspapers this 
campaign can be seen from time to time 
when unpaid space needs to be filled.  

In May, the new look and feel and 
branding was applied to our May 2010 
Acquisition campaign. Acquisition is a 
critical part of our fundraising revenue 
generation as it ensures that we introduce 
new people to our organisation and helps 
us to remain sustainable. The message 
‘Some people need to be rescued and 
others need a doctor’ was used.

The call to action was to ask people to 
provide financial support to help the 
RFDS deliver our wide range of health 
and medical programs. It explained 
to people in the city in particular that 
getting access to medical and/or health 
professionals  is not easy in the outback 
and to make people aware that the 
RFDS has highly skilled staff comprising 
GPs, dentists, allied health professionals, 
mental health professionals, female 
doctors that deliver these services.

The Qantas Foundation’s support has 
assisted the RFDS to successfully 
deliver a number of initiatives over 
the past 12 months. Ranging from 
providing air tickets to raise money at 
events such as the ‘Wings for life Ball’ 
in Adelaide, ‘Wilpena Under the Stars’ 
black tie evening in the Flinders Ranges 
National Park, and prizes in raffles such 
as the Father’s Day Raffle at the Royal 
Queensland Show.

Air tickets have also been used to fly 
23 teachers from across Australia to 
Melbourne for a day’s briefing on the 
RFDS’ School Curriculum Resource 
managed by RFDS Victorian Section.  
The objective of this initiative is to help 
build awareness and promote history, 
values and services of the RFDS 
targeting students in Years 5-9. We 
thank The Qantas Foundation for their 
ongoing support and look forward to the 
second year of our partnership where 
the focus will be on supporting two 
grass roots health initiatives operating 
from Broken Hill and Mt Isa bases. 

2009/2010 has been a year of 
implementation and some experimentation 
to create a solid platform and learning 
for our future communication and 
fundraising revenue growth strategies. 
The focus for the next 12 months is to 
launch new community partnerships 
and to focus on building a relationship 
with younger donors through 
online initiatives.

Our new brand message ‘The Furthest Corner.  
The Finest Care’ is a simple and concise way to help 
position the RFDS as not only a world class provider  
of aeromedical services but a provider of primary 
health care services to remote and regional Australia. 
> Janice Hoogeveen, National Marketing Director  

Before and after 
examples of the  
RFDS magazine  
and its redesign.



Finance >
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During the 2009/2010 
Financial Year,  
RFDS was involved  
in a number of  
major initiatives. 
The National Office of the RFDS 
continues to ensure disciplined financial 
management of all our Commonwealth 
contracts and provides strategic financial 
advice to the organisation. The key 
achievements during the year included;

> Federal Funding provided for 
RFDS base redevelopments at 
Alice Springs, Port Headland and 
Dubbo. Funding was also provided 
for doctor residences in Charleville, 
an HF Communication upgrade 
in Adelaide and a new rostering 
system in Brisbane.

> Federal Funding for replacement 
of five aircraft in RFDS 
Central Operations. 

> The National Finance Advisory 
Committee met regularly during the 
year to provide expert advice and 
guidance in matters of financial policy, 
administration and management.

> Another excellent fundraising result 
for the National Office with a total 
of $4.68m raised during the year, 
compared with $4.02m the prior year.

> Conducted a national valuation on 
our RFDS aircraft fleet to ensure 
appropriate insurance, accounting 
and market values were utilised.

Major base redevelopments in Alice Springs, 
Port Headland and Dubbo have enabled RFDS to 
improve its quality of care to people living in rural 
and remote Australia. 
> Anthony Alexander, National Finance Manager

The Commonwealth-assisted 
‘Traditional’ aircraft replacement plan 
is progressing well. At the end of June, 
eight of the planned 11 new aircraft 
arrivals within the current four year cycle 
ending June next year have taken place.

Those aircraft yet to arrive, three PC-12s 
for Central Operations, will be delivered 
by October of this year. 

The current aircraft replacement 
program represents:

>  A total capital cost of approximately  
  $59 million (subject to exchange rate  
  movements and exclusive of GST)

–  A capital contribution of   
  approximately $33.5 million by   
  the Department of Health and 
  Ageing (DoHA)

>  A commitment to also fund  a   
  significant amount of the aircraft 
  ongoing operating and depreciation  
  costs for Traditional services

The aircraft planned for are:

–  Three Beechcraft B200 King Airs  
  for South Eastern Section

–  Five Pilatus PC-12NGs  
  for Central Operations

–  One Beechcraft B200 King Air   
  for Queensland Section

–  Two Pilatus PC-12NGs  
  for Western Operations

>  The National Aviation Program   
  Manager (NAPM) has commenced  
  discussions with the operating   
  divisions and DoHA on determining  
  the replacement schedule forecast  
  for the next four year cycle, due to  
  start in mid-2011. At this time it is  
  likely that another nine or ten aircraft  
  will become due for replacement in  
  the next cycle.

A major milestone that will be addressed 
by the end of this calendar year is 
whether to exercise the option to extend 
the current National Engine Support 
Contract or to seek a new contract 
through market competition. Collectively 
the RFDS has nearly 100 aircraft engines 
typically costing $1 million each. The 
NAPM is working actively with all the 
operating sections to help determine 
the path forward and new contract 
development if required.

During the year the NAPM provided 
the National Board with an overview 
of aviation operations from a national 
perspective along with an insight into 
some of the issues likely to be faced in 
the future. These included developments 
in aircraft avionics and engines. One 
issue that needs to be taken into 
account for future planning is the lack of 
development of smaller transport aircraft 
and turboprop engines. It is expected 

that smaller corporate-type jet aircraft 
will become more widely used in the 
aeromedical arena due to the direction  
of aviation industry investment dollars.

With the increased focus on delivering 
Primary Health Care services, the NAPM 
is engaging with the operating sections 
to explore how future aviation capabilities 
may need to adapt to meet the differing 
requirements of these activities. 
Significant cost, performance and 
capability modelling is being undertaken 
to compare different aircraft types.

Aviation >

RFDS has introduced two Cessna 208B Grand Caravans to  
extend primary health care services from its Cairns Base.

Delivering Primary Health 
Care services... future aviation 
capabilities may need to adapt. 
> John Alp, National Aviation Program Manager
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>  RFDS flight nurse 
 Adrian Large –  
 Meekatharra, WA.

The NHRC will continue to prioritise 
initiatives that contribute to meeting 
the criteria. 

In light of this the NHRC have achieved 
or are working on:

>  Rolling quarterly HR metric reporting

>  A national paid parental 
  leave scheme

>  Aligning recruitment advertising   
  strategy across sections

>  National performance management  
  framework (as above)

The NHRC continues to reference the 
National HR Policies Manual and these 
are regularly reviewed and updated 
as required. This last year there 
has been significant changes in the 
workplace legislation landscape with the 
introduction of the Fair Work Act.

The NHRC has identified workforce 
planning and succession planning as its 
strategic priority for 2011. This will see 
us developing a process for developing 
employees with the potential to fill critical 
organisational positions and identifying 
a process for identifying future skill gaps 
and proactively seeking to address these 
gaps. We hope that through this process 
there may be the opportunity for cross 
sectional short-term placements and 
cross-organisational exposure.

Human Resources >
Human Resources >

The National Human 
Resources Committee 
(NHRC) has had 
another productive year. 
There have been some great outcomes 
at a sectional level but collectively 
we continue to plan key strategic 
priorities that will positively impact on 
all sections. We continue to leverage 
the skill set across the group to identify 
initiatives that will help to ensure our 
most important asset – our people - are 
engaged and motivated and the HR 
function is supporting the organisation 
and its managers effectively. 

This last year, the development of a 
national performance management 
philosophy and framework has been at 
the centre of the work conducted. 

Performance management is a human 
resource cornerstone and having a 
policy and procedure in place that 
allows managers to effectively manage 
their teams is critical. The outcomes 
of this project will ensure managers 
have a mechanism to appropriately 
acknowledge high performance and 
effectively address under performance. 
Simultaneously it will also ensure that 
professional development goals and 
career aspirations are recorded 
and tracked.

Whilst the committee is currently in 
the process of seeking feedback from 
sectional management teams, the 
NHRC have developed the philosophy, 
key objectives, performance criteria 
framework, including high performance 
leadership competencies, and 
supporting collateral. All sections hope 
to conduct training and roll out the 
new framework in line with their next 
performance review period.

As part of the national performance 
management project, the e-performance 
management module of the Chris21 
system will be utilised to provide, for 
the first time, an on-line performance 
management tool for both employees 
and their managers.

Whilst the implementation of the Chris21 
integrated payroll and human resource 
information system has not been without 
its challenges, all four operating sections 
are now live with the payroll component 
and have commenced implementation of 
kiosk access. Kiosk access will enable 
all employees to access their personnel 
information via the web and manage their 
HR related administration e.g. timesheets, 
leave requests etc.

The NHRC committee have set meeting 
Employer of Choice (EoC) criteria as an 
umbrella goal. This is a long term goal 
(3 years) and there is a broad range of 
criteria that need to be practiced in an 
organisation before being acknowledged 
as an EoC. 

The National ICT (Information, 
Communications and Technology) 
Committee is dedicated to standardising 
hardware and processes, linking with IT 
partners to gain savings on procurement, 
and to provide a common approach to 
ICT across the service.

The committee has been involved in 
discussion with vendors who would 
like to be involved with the RFDS but 
who also are willing to help out with our 
charity status.  Such vendors include 
IBM, lenovo, Microsoft and Telstra.

The new National IT infrastructure was 
commissioned in September 2009 with 
the assistance of Telstra and Ensyst, 
and for the first time linked all operating 
sections of the RFDS to a central 
storage site.  The payroll system was 
moved over to this new shared platform 
at the end of December 2009, thus 
all sections were now sharing the  
same program.

The new storage site, which is housed 
by Telstra, now supports not only the 
Chris21 payroll and HR system, but also 
the ThankQ Donor database system, 
Finance One system, email and file 
storage for the National office staff.  The 
storage site is flexible to allow for growth 
of future National projects.

The Committee have been involved in 
the technical aspects of the electronic 
medical records project requiring servers 
and laptops to be made operational and 
available for medical staff.

Further standardisation is being 
investigated by the committee, in 
areas such as video conferencing 
and software licensing.

Information Management >

This last year, the 
development of a national 
performance management 
philosophy and framework 
has been at the centre of 
the work conducted. 
> Kelly Hooper, NHRC Committee Chair

The storage site is flexible 
to allow for growth of 
future National projects. 
> Gary Oldman, National IT  

and Communications Manager



The RFDS National Office is 
committed to exercising 
appropriate financial discipline 
at every level along with 
monitoring and improving 
the financial performance 
of the organisation > Major General Michael Jeffery

> Billabong, Tabletop Station,  
North Queensland. 
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Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect, the operations of the company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the company in 
future financial years.

Future developments

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the company in future financial years and the expected 
results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the company. Accordingly, this information has not been 
disclosed in this report.

indemnification of officers and auditors

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified 
or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an 
officer or auditor.

Directors’ meetings

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended 
by each director. During the financial year, 5 meetings were held.

board of directors

Directors meetings eligible to attend Attended

>  major general michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (Retd) 5 5

>  mr. norman gray AM  (resigned 13 november 2009) 3 2

>  mr neville bassett 5 5

>  mr David Hills 5 4

>  mr Russell postle (resigned 13 november 2009) 3 3

>  ms Jane Harvey 5 3

>  ms Joan treweeke 5 5

>  mr malcolm White 5 3

>  mr mark gray (appointed 13 november 2009) 2 2

Auditor’s independence declaration >
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 4 of the annual report.

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

Major General Michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (ReTD)

Chairman

Sydney, 26 October 2010

Neville Bassett

Director

Chairman Audit and Risk Committee

Directors’ Report > Directors’ Report >  

The directors of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service  
of Australia submit herewith the annual financial report of the company for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2010. 
in order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows:

information about the directors and senior management 

The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are:

name particulars 

>  major general michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (Retd) Chairman (Former Governor-General)
Resides in the ACT Appointed 14 November 2008

>  mr. norman gray AM Deputy Chairman 
Resides in East Doncaster, Victoria Appointed 20 August 2007  

Resigned 13 November 2009

>  mr neville bassett Director, RFDS Western Operations
Resides in Maida Vale, Western Australia Appointed 30 June 2006

>  mr David Hills Director, RFDS Central Operations
Resides Mount Pleasant, South Australia Appointed 24 November 2006

>  mr Russell postle Director, RFDS Queensland Section
Resides in Brisbane, Queensland Appointed 22 June 2006  

Resigned 13 November 2009

>  ms Jane Harvey Director, RFDS Victorian Section
Resides in Southbank, Victoria Appointed 14 November 2008

>  ms Joan treweeke Director, RFDS South eastern Section
Resides in Lightning Ridge, New South Wales Appointed 14 November 2008

>  mr malcolm White Director, RFDS Tasmanian Section
Resides in Launceston, Tasmania Appointed 14 November 2008

>  mr mark gray Director, RFDS Queensland Section
Resides in McDowall, Queensland Appointed 13 November 2009

The above named directors held office during the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year except where stated.

Joint Company Secretaries 

>  mr nigel milan Am National Chief executive

>  mr Anthony Alexander National Finance Manager 

principal activities

The principal activity of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was 
to support the operating sections in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia. No significant changes in 
the nature of this activity occurred during the year.

Review of operations

The operating surplus of the company for the financial year was $156,077 (2009: $1,046,002). No income tax is payable as the 
company is exempt from paying such tax.

The company’s operation for the year was to receive and distribute amongst its member organisations Commonwealth operational 
and capital grants, donations, bequests and legacies, and to conduct the affairs of the company for the mutual benefit of its 
member organisations and people in rural and remote areas of Australia.

Changes in state of affairs

There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report >   Independent Auditor’s Report >   

The Board of Directors
Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia
Level 8
15 – 17 Young Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

26 October 2010  

Dear Board Members

Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of 
independence to the directors of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia for the financial year ended 30 June 2010, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
there have been no contraventions of:

 (i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 (ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Gaile Pearce
Partner 
Chartered Accountants

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service  

of Australia
We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of 
Australia, which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2010, and the income statement, cash flow statement and 
statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other 
explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration as set out on pages 7 to 27. In addition, we have audited Australian 
Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s compliance with specific requirements of the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report and for Compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in  
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991. This responsibility includes 
establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to compliance with requirements of the Charitable Fundraising 
Act 1991 and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement,  
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s compliance with specific requirements of the  
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance  
with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical  
requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
company has complied with specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the financial report  
is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the company’s compliance with specific 
requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of non-compliance with 
specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial report.
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Major General Michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (ReTD)

Chairman

Sydney, 26 October 2010

Neville Bassett

Director

Chairman Audit and Risk Committee

Independent Auditor’s Report >   

i, Major General Michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (Retd), Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Australian Council  
of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia declare that in my opinion:

a) the financial report gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals;

a) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under that Act and the conditions  
attached to the authority have been complied with; and

a) the internal controls exercised by the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia are  
appropriate and effective in accounting for all income received.

On behalf of the Directors

Major General Michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (ReTD)

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sydney, 26 October 2010

Directors’ Declaration >

The directors declare that:

(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company  
will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due & payable; and

(b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance  
with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a  
true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the company.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

Inherent Limitations
Because of the inherent limitations of any compliance procedure, it is possible that fraud, error, or non-compliance  
with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 may occur and not be detected. An audit is not designed to detect all 
weaknesses in the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s compliance with the  
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 as an audit is not performed continuously throughout the period and the tests are 
performed on a sample basis.
Any projection of the evaluation of compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 to future periods is subject  
to the risk that the procedures, may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of  
compliance with them may deteriorate.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia is in accordance with 

the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 (i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for  
  the year ended on that date; and
 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and  
  the Corporations Regulations; 
(b) the financial report agrees to the underlying financial records of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor 

Service of Australia, that have been maintained in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its 
regulations for the year ended 30 June 2010; and

(c) monies received by the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia, as a result of fundraising 
appeals conducted during the year ended 30 June 2010, have been accounted for and applied in accordance with the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its regulations.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Gaile Pearce
Partner 
Chartered Accountants

Sydney, 26 October 2010

Declaration in Respect of Fundraising Appeals > 
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note 2010 $ 2009 $

Revenue 4 73,366,701 78,079,238

Other income 4 1,072,082 -

Distributions to sections and programmes (70,222,646) (72,001,971)

National activities expenses (878,571) (2,180,500)

employee benefits expenses (1,320,437) (1,096,011)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (43,894) (48,349)

Operating expenses from in-kind contributions (478,338) (686,819)

Other administrative expenses (1,338,820) (1,019,586)

Net surplus for the year 5 156,077 1,046,002

Other comprehensive income

Gain on available-for-sale financial assets 202,294 31,933

Total comprehensive income for the year 358,371 1,077,935

note 2010 $ 2009 $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 23,969,524 31,532,310

Trade and other receivables 7 2,315,826 1,546,189

Total current assets 26,285,350 33,078,499

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 8 105,184 144,108

Other financial assets 9 990,217 748,770

Total non-current assets 1,095,401 892,878

Total assets 27,380,751 33,971,377

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 1,362,460 1,682,250

Provisions 11 164,234 164,481

Trust fund liability 13 23,516,581 30,145,541

Total current liabilities 25,043,275 31,992,272

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 11 2,994 2,994

Total non-current liabilities 2,994 2,994

Total liabilities 25,046,269 31,995,266

Net assets 2,334,482 1,976,111

Equity

Available-for-sale revaluation reserve 15 234,227 31,933

Retained earnings 16 2,100,255 1,944,178

Total equity 2,334,482 1,976,111

Statement of Comprehensive Income >  Statement of Financial Position >  
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Available for Sale 
Revaluation Reserve $ Retained earnings $ total equity $

Balance at 1 July 2008 - 898,176 898,176

Net surplus for the year - 1,046,002 1,046,002

Other comprehensive income for the year 31,933 - 31,922

Total comprehensive income for the year 31,933 1,046,002 1,077,935

Closing balance at 30 June 2009 31,933 1,944,178 1,976,111

Balance at 1 July 2009 31,933 1,944,178 1,976,111

Net surplus for the year - 156,077 156,077

Other comprehensive income for the year 202,294 - 202,294

Total comprehensive income for the year 202,294 156,077 358,371

Closing balance at 30 June 2010 234,227 2,100,255 2,334,482

Statement of Cash Flows > 
note 2010 $ 2009 $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from sections 950,000 500,000

Receipts from Commonwealth Government 66,595,254 92,702,320

Donations and legacies 4,685,208 3,318,883

Other receipts 144,798 164,482

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,845,267) (5,959,532)

Payments to sections (76,880,538) (78,548,046)

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 18(b) (8,350,545) 12,178,107

Cash flows from investing activities

interest received 773,159 884,175

Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,970) (23,817)

Dividends received 19,570 -

Net cash provided by investing activities 787,759 860,358

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (7,562,786) 13,038,465

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 31,532,310 18,493,845

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18(a) 23,969,524 31,532,310

1. general information 
Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the company) is incorporated and operates in Australia. 
Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s registered office and its principle place of business is as follows: 

Registered office and principal place of business

level 8, 15-17 Young Street, SYDNeY NSW 2000

The principle activity of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was 
to support the operating sections in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia. No significant changes in 
the nature of this activity occurred during the year.

2. Significant accounting policies 

Statement of compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
Accounting Standards and interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law. 

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to international Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-iFRS’). A statement of 
compliance with iFRS cannot be made due to the application of not for profit sector specific requirements contained in the A-iFRS.

basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in 
exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

in the application of the company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Adoption of new and revised accounting standards

in the current year, the company has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. Any 
significant impact on the accounting policies of the company from the adoption of these accounting Standards and interpretations 
are disclosed in the relevant accounting policy.

The adoption of these Standards and interpretations did not have any impact on the financial performance or position of the 
company. The following Standards and interpretations are most relevant to the company:

AASb 101 presentation of Financial Statements (‘AASb 101’)

The company has applied the revised AASB 101 from 1 July 2009 and now presents a statement of comprehensive income, 
which incorporates the income statement and all non-owner changes in equity. As a result, the company now presents all owner 
changes in the statement of changes in equity. The balance sheet is now referred to as the statement of financial position. There is 
a requirement to present a third statement of financial position if there is a restatement of comparative through either a correction of 
error, change in accounting policy or a reclassification. The cash flow statement is now referred to as the statement of cash flows.

AASb 8 operating Segments (‘AASb 8’)

The company has applied AASB 8, which replaces AASB 114 ‘Segment Reporting’, from 1 January 2009. AASB 8 requires a 
management approach to segment reporting based on the information reported internally. Refer to note 3.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three 
months or less at the date of acquisition. 

Statement of Changes in Equity >  Notes to the Financial Statements >  
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(b) goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within operating cash flows.

(c) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

> Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. 

> Donations
Donations represent monies received into the company’s bank account.

> interest revenue
interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

> in-kind contributions
Revenue (and expense) from non-monetary in-kind contributions, in relation to time donated to the program without 
compensation from the program have been calculated based on actual costs incurred by the donees.

> Dividend income
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(d) government grants

Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers of resources to the company in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. Government grants include government 
assistance where there are no conditions specifically relating to the operating activities of the company other than the requirement 
to operate in certain regions or industry sectors.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the company will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants whose primary condition is that the company should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current 
assets are recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial position and recognised as income on a systematic and 
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

(e) income tax

The company is exempt from the payment of income tax.

(f) trust fund liability

 The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties.

(g) Financial assets

investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specific category: ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets. The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

> Available-for-sale financial assets
Certain shares held by the Company are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in note 18. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in 
the available-for-sale revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment losses which are recognised directly in profit and 
loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for the period.

if there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between 
its carrying value and its current fair value is transferred from equity to the statement of comprehensive income. Reversals of 
impairment losses are not recognised in profit. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its 
cost is objective evidence of impairment.

> loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment. interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate. 

> impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each 
reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
impacted. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment loss 
through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

in respect of available-for-sale equity securities, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

(h) plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment and is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost or 
other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line method. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where 
shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

> the following rates are used in the calculation of depreciation:
Office equipment   15%-20%

leasehold improvements  60%

(i) provisions

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that the company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting 
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

(j) leased assets

leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(k) employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave 
when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the company in respect of services provided by employees up 
to reporting date.
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(l) impairment of long-lived assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. in assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
if the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(m) Standards and interpretations issued not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the Standards and interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective. 
initial application of the following Standards will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial report, but will change the 
disclosures presently made in relation to the company’s financial report.

Standard/interpretation effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after

expected to be initially applied 
in the financial year ending

AASB 2009-5‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual improvements Process’

1 January 2010 30 June 2011

AASB 2009-8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment 
Transactions’

1 January 2010 30 June 2011

AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures (2009)’, AASB 2009-12 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 9 ‘Financial instruments’, AASB 2009-11 ‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2009-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Additional exemptions for First-time Adopters’

1 January 2010 30 June 2011

AASB 2009-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of Rights issues’

1 February 2010 30 June 2011

AASB 2009-14 ‘Amendments to Australian interpretation – 
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement’

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB interpretation 19 ‘extinguishing liabilities with equity 
instruments’

1 July 2010 30 June 2011

AASB 2010-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – limited exemption from Comparative AASB 7 
Disclosures for First-time Adopters

1 July 2010 30 June 2011

3. Segment information 
The Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia operates predominantly in one business segment being the 
provision of support to the operational Sections in the provision of health service in Australia.

4. Revenue
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows: 

2010 $ 2009 $

Operating revenue

Contributions from sections 950,000 500,000 

Australian Government Operational Grants 62,109,974 65,673,399 

Australian Government eHealth Grant 524,714 1,700,000 

Australian Government Mental Health Grant 417,160 396,453 

Australian Government Rural Women’s GP Grant 3,205,000 4,044,460 

Donations and legacies 4,724,361 4,029,450 

in-kind contributions 478,338 686,819

 

72,409,547 77,030,581 

 

Other operating revenue

interest 773,159 884,175 

Dividend income 39,197 - 

Other items 144,798 164,482 

 

957,154 1,048,657 

 

Total revenue 73,366,701 78,079,238

Other income

Reimbursement of eHealth grants expended 1,072,082 -

5. Surplus from operations

other expenses 

Surplus from operations for the year includes the following expenses: 

2010 $ 2009 $

Depreciation of non-current assets 43,894 48,349

Minimum lease payments 103,507 91,174
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6. Cash

2010 $ 2009 $

National Office Cash

Federal account 376,645 277,499 

Trust donation account 304,756 5,763

Professional funds account 389,953 1,084,046

1,071,354 1,367,308

Trust Fund Assets

Woman of the year trust - 25,537 

Commonwealth funds – general account 6,108,389 19,164,218 

Commonwealth funds –  term deposit 16,633,400 10,000,000

Other – interest - 588,865

Rural women’s GP 156,381 386,382 

 

22,898,170 30,165,002

23,969,524 31,532,310

7. trade and other receivables

2010 $ 2009 $

RWGP Grant receivable 852,500 -

Department of Health & Ageing Grant receivable - 693,000

Department of Broadband, Communications & the Digital economy Grant receivable 176,000 770,000

Dividend income receivable 19,627 -

Other receivables 195,617 83,189

Reimbursement of eHealth grants receivable 1,072,082 -

2,315,826 1,546,189

No allowance has been made for irrecoverable receivables for 2009 and 2010.

8. plant and equipment

leasehold improvements 
at cost $

plant and equipment   
at cost $ total $

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2008 45,438 253,818 299,256

Additions - 23,817 23,817

Disposals (20,900) - (20,900)

Balance at 1 July 2009 24,538 277,635 302,173

Additions - 4,970 4,970

Disposals - - -

Balance at 30 June 2010 24,538 282,605 307,143

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2008 35,896 94,720 130,616

Disposals (20,900) - (20,900)

Depreciation expense 3,185 45,164 48,349

Balance at 1 July 2009 18,181 139,884 158,065

Disposals - - -

Depreciation expense 2,545 41,349 43,894

Balance at 30 June 2010 20,726 181,233 201,959

Net book value

As at 30 June 2009 9,542 134,566 144,108

As at 30 June 2010 3,812 101,372 105,184

leasehold improvements represent the make good provision and are non-cash.

9. other financial assets

2010 $ 2009 $

Rental bond deposit 6,270 6,270

Available-for-sale investments carried at fair value:

listed securities 983,947 742,500

990,271 748,770

10. trade and other payables

2010 $ 2009 $

Trade payables (i) 282,652 1,007,327 

Goods and services tax payable 482,748 557,545 

Accruals 190,794 117,378 

Other – grant monies refundable 406,266 -

 

1,362,460 1,682,250 

(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on overdue payables. The Company  
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.
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11. provisions

2010 $ 2009 $

Current

employee benefits:

Annual leave (note 12) 95,436 83,129 

long service leave (note 12) 34,896 34,852

Make good provision in operating lease 33,902 33,902 

lease smoothing provision in operating lease - 12,598 

 

164,234 164,481 

Non-current

employee benefits:

long service leave (note 12) 2,994 2,994

12. employee benefits
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:

2010 $ 2009 $

Provision for employee benefits:

Current (note 11) 130,332 117,981

Non-current (note 11) 2,994 2,994

133,326 120,975

2010 no. 2009 no.

Number of full-time employees at the year end 7 9

13. trust fund liability

2010 $ 2009 $

Woman of the year trust - 28,537 

Commonwealth Funds 23,130,319 29,730,742 

Rural women’s GP 386,262 386,262 

 

23,516,581 30,145,541 

14. Contributed equity
No contributed equity has been issued as the company is limited by guarantee. if the company is wound up, the liability of the 
members is limited to $2 in meeting the liabilities of the company. At 30 June 2010 the number of members was 10 (2009: 10).

15. Available-for-sale revaluation reserve

2010 $ 2009 $

Balance at beginning of the financial year 31,933 -

Valuation gain recognised 202,294 31,933

Balance at end of the financial year 234,227 31,933

The available-for-sale revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets that have been recognised in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those 
assets have been disposed of or are determined to be impaired.

16. Retained earnings

2010 $ 2009 $

Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,944,178 898,176

Net surplus for the year 156,077 1,046,002

Balance at end of the financial year 2,100,255 1,944,178

17. leases
The operating leases relate to the office premises. The company has neither an option to  
purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period or to extend for further years.

2010 $ 2009 $

Non-cancellable operating leases

Not longer than 1 year 84,014 82,114

longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 87,795 -

171,809 82,114

18. notes to the statement of cash flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in 
money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown 
in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

2010 $ 2009 $

Federal account 376,645 277,499 

Trust donation account 304,756 5,763 

Professional funds account 389,953 1,084,046 

Commonwealth funds – term deposit 16,633,400 10,588,865 

Woman of the year trust - 25,537 

Commonwealth funds – general account 6,108,389 19,164,218 

Rural women’s GP 156,381 386,382 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 23,969,524 31,532,310 

(b) Reconciliation of surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

2010 $ 2009 $

Surplus for the year 156,077 1,046,002

interest received (773,159) (884,175)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 43,894 48,349

Dividend income received (39,197) -

Changes in net assets and liabilities

(increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables (891,959) 514,633

 Other financial assets 102,796 (710,567)

(Decrease)/increase in liabilities:

Trade and other payables (319,790) (978,709)

Provisions (6,629,207) 13,142,574

Net cash from operating activities (8,350,545) 12,178,107
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19. Financial instruments

(a)  Capital risk management

The company manages its capital to ensure it will continue as a going concern. The company’s overall strategy remains unchanged 
from 2009. The capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents and retained earnings. Operating cash 
flows are used to maintain and expand the operations of the Australian Council.

(b)  Categories of financial instruments

2010 $ 2009 $

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 2,438,148 1,546,189

Cash and cash equivalents 1,071,354 1,367,308

Trust fund assets 22,898,170 30,165,002

Available-for-sale investments 983,947 742,500

(c)  Financial risk management objectives

The company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 
The company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates.

(d) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and 
equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

(e) market risk

The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. in the last two financial years the company has 
not used any derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. There has been no change to the company’s 
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk from the previous period.

(f) interest rate risk management

The exposure to interest rate risk is limited to the impact of any changes on the cash and trust fund assets balances of $23,969,524 
(2009: $31,532,310).

These cash balances earn interest at an average rate of 3.64% (2009: 1.92%) per annum.

(g) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the company. 
The company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 

The company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having 
similar characteristics.

(h)  Fair value of financial instruments

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
approximates their fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

 > Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

level 1 $
30/6/2010  

total $

Financial assets

equity securities 983,947 983,947

(i) liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of the company’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities by monitoring forecast 
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The company also uses a trade 
receivables and trade payables finance facility to manage its liquidity risk.

 > Liquidity and interest risk tables
The following table details the company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table 
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted average 
effective interest rate 

less than  
1 month 1-3 months

3 months 
-1 year 1-5 years 5+ years

liabilities % $ $ $ $ $

2010

Non-interest bearing - - 1,362,460 23,516,581 - - 

Variable interest rate 
instruments - - - - - - 

- 1,362,640 23,516,581 - - 

2009

Non-interest bearing - - 2,068,512 29,759,279 - -

Variable interest rate 
instruments - - - - -

- 2,068,512 29,759,279 - -

The following table details the company’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table below has been drawn 
up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets 
except where the company anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

Weighted average 
effective interest rate 

less than  
1 month 1-3 months

3 months 
-1 year 1-5 years 5+ years

Assets % $ $ $ $ $

2010

Non-interest bearing - 2,438,148 - - 983,947 - 

Variable interest rate 
instruments 3.64 1,071,354 22,898,170 - - - 

3,509,502 22,898,170 - 983,947 - 

2009

Non-interest bearing - 1,546,189 - - 742,500 -

Variable interest rate 
instruments 1.92 1,956,173 29,550,600 - 25,537 s-

3,502,362 29,550,600 - 768,037 -
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20. Key management personnel compensation

Details of key management personnel

The directors and other members of key management personnel of the company during the year were:

Directors other key management personnel

>  major general michael Jeffery AC, AO(Mil), CVO, MC (Retd) >  nigel milan AM

>  norman gray AM (resigned 13 November 2009)   national Chief executive officer

>  neville bassett

>  David Hills

>  Russell postle (resigned 13 November 2009)

>  Jane Harvey

>  Joan treweeke

>  malcolm White

>  mark gray (appointed 13 November 2009)

The aggregate compensation made to other key management personnel of the company is set out below:

2010 $ 2009 $

Short-term employee benefits 276,625 276,625

The directors received no compensation for their services to the company in respect of the financial year.

21. information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority  
Conditions pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991

2010 $ 2009 $

Gross income from fundraising:

Donations and legacies 4,685,210 3,286,950

listed securities 39,151 742,500

4,724,361 4,029,450

Total costs of fundraising (148,704) (131,379)

Funds disbursed for Royal Flying Doctor projects (4,213,570) (3,023,638)

excess/(shortfall) of total income from fundraising over funds disbursed 362,087 874,433

% %

Total costs to gross income from fundraising 3.15 3.26

Net excess to gross income from fundraising 7.66 24.96

Total disbursements for projects to total expenditure 96.59 95.84

Total disbursements for projects to total income received 92.34 78.30

it is the policy of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia to distribute all donations, legacies and 
sponsorships which comprise its fundraising activities to each of its Sections. Given the nature of these activities, it has minimal 
costs associated with fundraising. Furthermore, due to the timing of receipts and payments it is considered reasonable that gross 
income may exceed funds disbursed or that funds disbursed may exceed gross income at year end.

22. Remuneration of auditors
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditors from the company and any related body corporate is as follows:

2010 $ 2009 $

Auditing the financial statements 18,400 17,700

Other services 20,400 19,700

38,800 37,400

The auditor of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

23. Related party disclosures
During the current financial year, there were no related party disclobsures.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2009, BDO Kendalls (Qld) Pty ltd of which Russell Postle is a director and beneficial 
shareholder provided taxation advice to the Australian Council of the Royal Flying Doctor Service to assist the Australian Council 
in the preparation of its submission to the Henry enquiry into the taxation of Not For Profit Organisations for an amount of $1,986 
(GST inclusive). 

This provision of this advice was disclosed to and authorized by the Board of Directors of the Australian Council of the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service prior to the advice being provided. Mr. Postle disclosed his potential interest in this matter and did not participate in 
the vote on this matter.
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Section Aviation Statistics 

number of landings Kilometres Flown block time (Hours)

Section
No. of 

Aircraft RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

Central operations

Adelaide 4 6,350 - 6,350 1,940,917 - 1,940,917 5,135 - 5,135

Alice Springs 4 3,541 494 4,035 1,711,169 223,511 1,934,680 4,527 591 5,118

Port Augusta 3 3,795 - 3,795 1,197,958 - 1,197,958 3,169 - 3,169

Ayers Rock Medical Centre - - - - - - - - - -

Marree Health Service - - - - - - - - - -

Tennant Creek General Practice - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL 11 13,686 494 14,180 4,850,044 223,511 5,073,555 12,831 591 13,422

Queensland Section

Brisbane 2 3,858 158 4,016 1,246,929 32,162 1,279,091 3,781 118 3,899

Bundaberg 1 2,728 - 2,728 700,808 - 700,808 2,267 - 2,267

Cairns 5 3,600 627 4,227 1,344,004 157,394 1,501,398 4,096 590 4,686

Charleville 1 1,051 - 1,051 417,059 - 417,059 1,259 - 1,259

Longreach - - - - - - - - - -

Mount Isa 5 2,869 317 3,186 904,659 64,187 968,846 2,767 263 3,030

Rockhampton 2 3,425 - 3,425 1,266,514 - 1,266,514 3,698 - 3,698

Townsville 1 2,198 92 2,290 971,402 15,349 986,751 2,709 81 2,790

TOTAL 17 19,729 1,194 20,923 6,851,376 269,092 7,120,468 20,576 1,053 21,628

South eastern Section

Broken Hill 6 2,010 26 2,036 570,070 5,176 575,246 1,882 16 1,898

Dubbo 2 2,240 - 2,240 666,287 - 666,287 2,222 - 2,222

Bankstown 1 370 710 1,080 104,671 177,518 282,189 321 642 963

Launceston 1 2,192 - 2,192 450,373 - 450,373 1,754 - 1,754

Essendon 4 6,997 - 6,997 1,636,531 - 1,636,531 5,708 - 5,708

Mascot 4 7,756 - 7,756 2,348,245 - 2,348,245 7,911 - 7,911

TOTAL 18 21,565 736 22,301 5,776,177 182,694 5,958,871 19,798 658 20,456

Western operations

Derby 2 2,011 1,448 3,459 1,007,457 206,211 1,213,668 2,979 855 3,833

Jandakot 4 5,504 603 6,107 2,149,605 65,556 2,215,161 6,627 333 6,961

Kalgoorlie 2 1,933 271 2,204 979,727 94,778 1,074,505 2,786 360 3,147

Meekatharra 2 1,808 114 1,922 1,056,170 24,520 1,080,690 2,955 104 3,059

Port Hedland 3 2,235 658 2,893 1,458,183 142,650 1,600,833 3,859 516 4,375

Perth Domestic 1 225 - 225 *254,704 - 254,704 484 - 484

TOTAL 14 13,716 3,094 16,810 6,905,846 533,715 7,439,561 19,691 2,168 21,859

*Km for VH-RiO are not complete due to missing data for training/ferry/admin flights. This figure is an underestimate, possibly by 40,000-50,000 Km.

total All Sections 

number of landings Kilometres Flown block time (Hours)

Year
No. of 

Aircraft RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

2009/2010 60 68,696 5,518 74,214 24,383,443 1,209,012 25,592,455 72,895 4,470 77,365

2008/2009 53 65,141 6,629 71,770 22,414,964 1,508,476 23,923,440 67,786 5,425 73,211

2007/2008 51 62,566 6,458 69,024 21,738,198 1,442,240 23,180,438 65,256 5,320 70,576

2006/2007 47 60,013 5,061 65,074 20,656,438 1,058,157 21,714,595 61,685 4,113 65,798

2005/2006 50 58,416 4,595 63,011 19,535,099 907,975 20,443,074 57,597 3,784 61,381

2004/2005 47 55,542 2,315 57,857 18,515,809 1,008,550 19,524,359 54,607 4,225 58,832

2003/2004 45 56,008 2,004 58,012 18,428,169 1,092,198 19,520,367 56,050 4,213 60,263

2002/2003 36 37,024 1,347 38,371 13,732,239 338,564 14,070,803 40,269 1,402 41,672

2001/2002 40 45,313 3,897 49,210 15,544,830 1,037,661 16,602,491 45,681 4,012 49,693

2000/2001 42 36,307 3,930 40,237 14,811,922 1,175,306 15,987,228 43,141 4,319 47,459

1999/2000 40 39,600 3,882 43,482 13,538,175 1,018,235 14,556,410 40,319 3,884 44,203

1998/1999 41 39,513 2,919 42,432 12,681,197 1,006,715 13,687,912 39,405 3,760 43,165

1997/1998 40 36,415 3,624 40,039 12,544,579 803,889 13,348,468 35,957 2,999 38,956

1996/1997 38 31,613 3,118 34,731 11,202,447 724,765 11,927,212 32,230 2,737 34,967

1995/1996 38 31,289 2,730 34,019 10,732,934 583,434 11,316,368 31,645 2,199 33,844

1994/1995 36 27,548 2,303 29,851 8,940,914 542,519 9,483,433 26,786 1,958 28,744

1993/1994 37 25,589 1,647 27,236 8,401,110 290,430 8,691,540 25,377 1,124 26,501

1992/1993 37 24,963 2,509 27,472 8,301,017 473,512 8,774,529 25,711 1,738 27,449

1991/1991 37 23,420 2,982 26,402 7,638,207 615,210 8,253,417 24,301 2,305 26,606
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Central operations Aircraft Register 

Registration letters Description manufactured Date of Acquisition name

VH-FMC Pilatus PC-12 1995 Mar-95 –

VH-FMF Pilatus PC-12 1995 Mar-95 Li Ka Shing Foundation

VH-FMP Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 –

VH-FMW Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 –

VH-FMZ Pilatus PC-12 1996 Mar-96 Roy and Marjory Edwards

VH-FDE Pilatus PC-12 2000 Sep-00 Oz Minerals

VH-FGR Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01 Scott’s of Mt.Gambier

VH-FGS Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01 –

VH-FGT Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01 Variety - The Children’s Charity

VH-FDK Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-03 –

VH-FDJ Pilatus PC-12 2007 Jan-08 Beth Stewart Klugh

VH-FVA Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10 –

VH-FVB Pilatus PC-12 2010 Apr-10 –

Queensland Section Aircraft Register 

Registration letters Description manufactured Date of Acquisition name

VH-FDS Beechcraft Kingair B200C 1982 Apr-91 Marjorie Loveday (Cairns Base)

VH-FDI Beechcraft Kingair B200C 1982 Feb-95 RFDS ‘Floater’ 

VH-FDO Beechcraft Kingair B200C 1982 Feb-95 RFDS Mt Isa

VH-FDD Beechcraft Super Kingair B200SE 2000 Apr-00 RFDS Mt Isa

VH-FDF Beechcraft Super Kingair B200SE 2000 Sep-00 RFDS Cairns

VH-FDC Pilatus PC - 12 2001 Nov-01 RFDS Mt Isa

VH-FDM Pilatus PC - 12 2001 Nov-01 RFDS Cairns

VH-FDP Pilatus PC - 12 2001 Nov-01 RFDS Charleville

VH-FDR Beechcraft Kingair B200 2004 Dec-04 RFDS Rockhampton

VH-FDW Beechcraft Kingair B200 2004 Dec-04 RFDS Rockhampton

VH-FDZ Beechcraft Kingair B200 2004 Dec-04 RFDS Townsville

VH-FDB Beechcraft Kingair B200 2007 May-07 RFDS Bundaberg

VH-FDA Beechcraft Kingair B200 2007 Aug-07 RFDS Brisbane

VH-FDT Beechcraft Kingair B200 2007 Oct-07 RFDS Brisbane

 VH-FDG Beechcraft Kingair B200 2009 Jul-09 RFDS Cairns

VH-NQC Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 RFDS Cairns

VH-NQD Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 RFDS Cairns

#1 of the 5 aircraft based in Mount isa is for fleet wide maintenance relief.

South eastern Section Aircraft Register 

Registration letters Description manufactured Date of Acquisition name

VH-MSZ Beecraft Kingair B200C 1981 Dec-86 Fred McKay

VH-MVY Beecraft Kingair B200C 1989 Sep-98 Flying Doctor Society

VH-MSM Beecraft Kingair B200C 1993 Jun-96

VH-MSU Beecraft Kingair B200C 1981 Mar-89 Philip H Bushell

VH-MVL Beecraft Kingair B200C 1989 Oct-97 Outback Car Trek

VH-MWU Beecraft Kingair B200C 1992 Aug-99

VH-MWX Beecraft Kingair B200C 1992 Aug-99

VH-MWZ Beecraft Kingair B200C 1992 Jun-99

VH-MWQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 1991 Jun-96

VH-AMQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2002 Jun-03

VH-AMR Beecraft Kingair B200C 2001 Sep-03

VH-MSH Beecraft Kingair B200C 2001 Sep-03

VH-AMS Beecraft Kingair B200C 2003 Dec-03 Kaye Melmeth

VH-MVJ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2003 Jul-04 Lady Nancy

VH-MVW Beecraft Kingair B200C 2007 May-07 RFDS Friends

VH-MWK Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08

VH-MVX Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08

VH-MWH Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08

Western operations Aircraft Register 

Registration letters Description manufactured Date of Acquisition name

VH-KWO Pilatus PC-12 2001 Jun-01 –

VH-MWO Pilatus PC-12 2001 Aug-01 –

VH-NWO Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 –

VH-VWO Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-01 –

VH-YWO Pilatus PC-12 2006 Sep-06 –

VH-ZWO Pilatus PC-12 2004 Feb-04 –

VH-OWA Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jun-09 –

VH-OWP Pilatus PC-12 2008 Aug-08 –

VH-OWQ Pilatus PC-12 2008 Nov-08 –

VH-OWR Pilatus PC-12 2008 Jan-09 –

VH-OWB Pilatus PC-12 2009 Dec-09 –

VH-OWD Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jan-10 –

VH-OWG Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10 –

VH-RIO Hawker 800XP 2002 Oct-09 –
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Section Health Statistics 

Section telehealth patients Attended

Radio Telephone

Video 
Conference 

or other TOTAL

RFDS 
General 
Practice 
Clinics

RFDS Other 
Clinics

RFDS 
Medical 
Services

RFDS 
Faciliated 

Clinics

RFDS staff 
at non RFDS 

Clinic Inpatients

Rural 
Women’s GP 

Program TOTAL

Central operations

Alice Springs - - - - - - - 13,005 - - - 13,005

Port Augusta - 6,554 - 6,554 1,774 549 - 4,352 - - - 6,675

Adelaide - - - - - - - - - - 3,231 3,231

Tennant Creek General Practice - - - - 4,064 1,651 - 205 - - - 5,920

Marree Health Service - 513 - 513 - 2,762 - 178 - - - 2,940

TOTAL - 7,067 - 7,067 5,838 4,962 - 17,740 - - 3,231 31,771

Queensland Section

Brisbane - 5,359 22 5,381 - - - 304 - - 2,945 3,249

Bundaberg - 4,722 22 4,744 - - - - - - - -

Cairns - 9,564 160 9,724 12,812 9,937 - 154 - - 2,272 25,175

Charleville - 1,087 13 1,100 2,796 1,312 - 115 - - - 4,223

Longreach - 426 21 447 - 609 - - - - - 609

Mount Isa - 5,533 9 5,542 3,961 3,256 - 392 - - - 7,609

Rockhampton - 6,079 24 6,103 - - - - - - - -

Townsville - 3,929 75 4,004 751 428 - - - - - 1,179

TOTAL - 36,699 346 37,045 20,320 15,542 - 965 - - 5,217 42,044

South eastern Section

Broken Hill - 4,826 - 4,826 8,323 4,271 444 - - - - 13,038

Dubbo - - - - - - - - - - - -

Cooper Basin - - - - 187 5,345 - - - - - 5,532

Bankstown - - - - - - - 16,716 - - 2,890 19,606

Launceston - - - - - - - - - - 966 966

Essendon - - - - - - - - - - 1,448 1,448

Mascot - - - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL - 4,826 - 4,826 8,510 9,616 444 16,716 - - 5,304 40,590

Western operations

Derby 6 9,109 - 9,115 460 2,337 - 6,501 508 9 - 9,815

Jandakot 19 14,126 - 14,145 - - 18 1,523 - - 5,225 6,766

Kalgoorlie 4 8,667 - 8,671 1,253 - 1 - - 2 - 1,256

Meekatharra 11 5,027 - 5,038 554 - 6,014 - - 2,503 - 9,071

Port Hedland - 5,716 - 5,716 1,543 - 55 3,082 - 21 - 4,701

Perth Domestic - - - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL 40 42,645 - 42,685 3,810 2,337 6,088 11,106 508 2,535 5,225 31,609

total All Sections 

2009/2010 40 91,237 346 91,623 38,478 32,457 6,532 46,527 508 2,535 18,977 146,014

2008/2009 4 85,088 204 85,296 40,991 30,521 7,046 44,070 1,026 3,369 18,234 145,257

2007/2008 7 86,736 184 86,927 42,591 28,082 7,177 30,557 3,186 3,756 17,175 132,524

2006/2007 9 75,277 153 75,439 45,167 19,499 6,115 33,507 3,996 2,916 15,926 127,126

2005/2006 5 77,038 92 77,135 37,324 19,690 7,069 34,394 790 8,271 16,323 119,035

2004/2005 8 73,686 - 73,694 39,897 17,773 6,613 38,124 919 6,805 15,838 121,949

2003/2004 34 57,763 - 57,797 36,534 16,719 7,621 35,465 793 6,487 13,836 114,195

2002/2003 12 58,725 8 58,745 41,874 19,917 8,349 30,025 2,084 6,453 11,667 117,784

2001/2002 55 57,030 - 57,085 41,306 18,927 7,328 27,029 1,774 3,305 5,935 108,657

2000/2001 122 54,187 - 54,309 43,850 18,956 6,677 26,546 1,838 4,057 4,374 106,298

1999/2000 333 47,035 - 47,368 54,400 12,636 6,875 28,109 631 4,378 1,877 108,906

1998/1999 440 48,957 - 49,397 74,839 17,786 - - - 13,810 - 106,435

1997/1998 310 44,233 - 44,543 73,678 18,204 - - - 18,454 - 110,336

1996/1997 391 39,348 - 39,739 76,353 23,928 - - - 6,993 - 107,274

1995/1996 524 35,916 - 36,440 62,486 36,109 - - - 6,500 - 105,095

1994/1995 609 33,243 - 33,852 57,325 37,255 - - - 6,242 - 100,822

1993/1994 798 35,638 - 36,436 44,445 36,255 - - - 7,187 - 87,887

1992/1993 1,172 36,000 - 37,172 51,690 37,111 - - - 9,926 - 98,727

1991/1991 2,253 36,234 - 38,487 52,172 35,490 - - - 9,848 - 97,510

total All Sections 

2009/2010 7,305 3,503 5,124 3,599 1,565 13,791 4,881 33,138 394 439 38,852

2008/2009 6,200 3,732 5,216 3,479 1,577 14,004 4,260 32,572 274 378 37,484

2007/2008 6,367 4,003 5,201 3,686 1,424 14,314 4,554 30,709 302 418 35,983

2006/2007 4,893 3,678 3,741 3,445 1,383 12,247 3,982 30,308 415 384 35,089

2005/2006 6,770 3,473 3,397 3,434 1,313 11,617 3,732 29,545 432 494 34,203

2004/2005 5,501 3,681 2,435 3,684 1,439 11,239 3,899 28,225 646 569 33,339

2003/2004 4,825 3,268 2,145 3,421 1,163 9,997 3,804 27,427 714 1,462 33,606

2002/2003 5,745 3,039 2,415 3,250 835 9,870 3,694 24,179 724 1,443 30,040

2001/2002 5,277 3,225 2,408 2,528 700 8,861 3,846 20,336 499 1,296 25,977

2000/2001 5,519 2,792 2,147 2,305 330 7,574 4,097 19,240 - 590 23,927

1999/2000 5,102 2,193 877 3,149 164 6,383 4,834 16,755 - 602 22,191

1998/1999 6,091 5,393 - - - 5,393 5,961 16,516 - 543 23,020

1997/1998 5,138 5,410 - - - 5,410 5,377 16,227 - - 21,604

1996/1997 1,154 4,171 - - - 4,171 5,033 12,113 - - 17,146

1995/1996 1,077 4,743 - - - 4,743 5,766 11,193 - - 16,959

1994/1995 1,125 4,408 - - - 4,408 14,105 - - - 14,105

1993/1994 5,160 4,976 - - - 4,976 13,885 - - - 13,885

1992/1993 3,595 5,061 - - - 5,061 14,270 - - - 14,270

1991/1991 3,419 5,172 - - - 5,172 13,596 - - - 13,596

 

Section Immunisations number of Clinics Conducted number of patients transported

RFDS 
General 
Practice 
Clinics

RFDS Other 
Clinics

RFDS 
Facilitated 

Clinics

Rural 
Women's GP 

Program TOTAL
Primary 

Evacuations
Interhospital 

Transfers

Patient 
transported 
from a clinic Repatriations TOTAL

Central operations

Alice Springs - - - 856 - 856 1,593 870 - 39 2,502

Port Augusta 407 195 180 535 910 92 1,532 - - 1,624

Adelaide - - - - 309 309 7 4,158 - 30 4,195

Tennant Creek General Practice 446 240 240 11 - 491 - - - - -

Marree Health Service 480 39 - 519 - - - - -

TOTAL 853 435 900 1,441 309 3,085 1,692 6,560 - 69 8,321

Queensland Section

Brisbane - - - 26 216 242 2 2,207 - 10 2,219

Bundaberg - - - - - - 2 1,820 - 20 1,842

Cairns 3,060 1,124 1,631 19 223 2,997 519 637 - 26 1,182

Charleville 368 251 238 18 - 507 66 198 18 1 283

Longreach - - 354 - - 354 - - - - -

Mount Isa 1,799 269 618 36 - 923 456 664 26 16 1,162

Rockhampton - - - - - - 17 2,283 - 14 2,314

Townsville 199 49 46 - - 95 9 1,651 1 3 1,664

TOTAL 5,426 1,693 2,887 99 439 5,118 1,071 9,460 45 90 10,666

South eastern Section

Broken Hill 208 907 749 - - 1,656 327 388 - - 715

Dubbo - - - - - - 598 531 - - 1,129

Cooper Basin - 45 365 - - 410 - - - - -

Bankstown - - - 1,168 242 1,410 - - - - -

Launceston - - - - 84 84 - 1000 - - 1,000

Essendon - - - - 126 126 - 4,555 - - 4,555

Mascot - - - - - - - 4,881 - - 4,881

TOTAL 208 952 1,114 1,168 452 3,686 925 11,355 - - 12,280

Western operations

Derby 637 56 223 570 - 849 250 686 284 98 1,318

Jandakot 156 - - 136 365 501 207 2,899 6 131 3,243

Kalgoorlie 169 168 - - - 168 308 761 14 17 1,100

Meekatharra 52 63 - - - 63 159 464 - 2 625

Port Hedland 12 136 - 185 - 321 261 833 45 24 1,163

Perth Domestic - - - - - - 8 120 - 8 136

TOTAL 1,026 423 223 891 365 1,902 1,193 5,763 349 280 7,585
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Staff employed as at 30th June 2010 

Central  
operations

Queensland  
Section

South eastern  
Section

Western  
operations

Victorian  
Section

Australian  
Council total

F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T

Administration 22 5 58 25 21 6 24 20 2 2 8 1 - -

Allied Health - - 4 - - - - - - - - - - -

Dental - - - - 2 - - - - - - - - -

Engineers / Engineering Support 8 - 2 1 33 2 15 - - - - - - -

General Hands - 1 1 - - - - - - - - - - -

Health Promotion 1 2 4 2 - - - - - - - - - -

Indigineous Health  
Workers / Liason Staff

2 - 14 8 - - 1 - - - - - - -

Medical Practioners 7 1# 21 57 15 29 22 25 - - - - - -

Medical Specialist - - - - - 8 - - - - - - - -

Mental Health / Drug & Alcohol 4 - 21 2 3 - - - - - - - - -

Operational Coordinators 1 - - - - - 14 - - - - - - -

Paramedics - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Pilots 33 - 54 3 55 1 38 2 - - - - - -

Public Relations / Fundraising 6 - 6 3 7 7 5 1 - 4 - - - -

Radio Staff / Tasking Coordinators 6 2 - - 2 - - - - - - - - -

Registered Nurses 26 14 60 21 20 4 26 17 - - - - - -

Tourist Facilities /  
Merchandising / Other

4 15 - - 1 5 2 - - - - - - -

Total Staff 120 40 245 122 159 62 147 65 2 6 8 1 681 296

grand total Staff 977

* includes Casual Staff
# in addition 18 part-time female Doctors are contracted to the RWGPS program

a



The Royal Flying Doctor Service was 
started 82 years ago, in 1928, by the 
Rev John Flynn. His tireless campaigning 
to alleviate the isolation and suffering 
of those who lived and worked in the 
Australian Outback led first to a regional, 
and then to a national aeromedical 
service. Flynn’s far-reaching ambition 
was to throw a ‘mantle of safety’ over 
the whole of Australia.

in 2010 we celebrate the continuing 
success of that ambition, as well as the 
technological advances in medicine, 
aviation and communications which 
allow the Royal Flying Doctor Service to 
offer the highest quality of care to all 
those who live, work and travel in the 
vast Australian Outback.

Flynn’s contribution to improving 
the lives of millions of Australians is 
acknowledged with a tribute to him and 
his work on the Australian $20 note.

For more information on the history 
of the RFDS, visit –  
www.flyingdoctor.org.au/history.html

Do not pray for tasks 
equal to your powers;  
pray for powers equal  
to your tasks.   
> Rev John Flynn.

RFDS National Office 
is grateful for the 
support of the following 
organisations during 
2009 – 2010

Our Supporters >
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>  Dawn over Kata Tjuta –  
The Olgas, Central Australia.
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How you can help >

RFDS Australian Council 
National Office 
level 8, 15-17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
T 02 8259 8100 
F 02 9247 3351 
W www.flyingdoctor.org.au

A U S T R A L I A N  C O U N C I L  

As a not for profit organisation, 
we need your support…

Send a cheque (made payable to the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to:
Australian Council of the RFDS 
level 8, 15-17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Phone us on 02 8259 8100 or 1800 467 435
Visit our website www.flyingdoctor.org.au
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